RECEIVED

01-20-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP002084-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

CHRISTOPHER J. OATMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and Sentences Entered in the Circuit Court, Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DONALD T. LANG Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 01003242

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-1638 langd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Must the eight convictions for violating Wis. Stat. § 948.14, which prohibits a registered sex offender from intentionally photographing a minor without parental consent, be vacated because the statute is unconstitutional both on its face and as applied in that it substantially restricts and burdens protected expression in violation of the state and federal constitutions?

The trial court denied Mr. Oatman's constitutional challenge to Wis. Stat. § 948.14.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant anticipates the issue presented in this appeal will be adequately addressed by the parties' briefs. Therefore, oral argument is not requested. Publication is warranted, however, to address constitutional issues that have not yet been specifically considered in prior Wisconsin appellate decisions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case formally commenced on January 14, 2013, with the filing of a criminal complaint charging Christopher Oatman with three counts of being a registered sex offender who intentionally photographed a minor without the parent's consent contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.14(2)(a). The complaint also charged one count of burglary contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.10(1m)(a). (2). About a week later, an

amended complaint was filed charging Mr. Oatman, as a repeater, with sixteen counts of photographing a minor without parental consent and one count of burglary. (3).

The events underlying the sixteen counts of photographing a minor allegedly occurred on six dates during the Summer and Autumn of 2010. (3). In February, 2011, a search of Oatman's upstairs apartment in Green Bay was initiated by his probation and parole agent. During this search authorities seized a cell phone, digital camera, a camcorder and memory cards. A subsequent search of these items produced the images underlying the charges. (3:7-8; 10:1-2; 22:1-2; 24:1-2).

The amended complaint does not allege that any of the sixteen counts of photographing a minor involved obscenity, child pornography, or nudity. (3). There is no indication any of the charged images involved children in anything other than an outdoor public setting. (3; 10:1-2). In the amended complaint, the detective reported that all of the photographs and videos captured images "just outside the residence of Christopher Oatman." (3:9-10). The images described in the complaint consist of children engaged in various forms of outdoor play. The children were photographed while skateboarding, jumping rope, riding tricycles and bicycles, playing in the leaves, dropping stones in a soda bottle and sitting against a tree. (3:8-9). According to the detective, most of the videos tended to focus on the buttocks, crotch and panty area of the children. (3:8-9).

On February 6, 2013, Oatman waived a preliminary hearing, whereupon an information was filed renewing the seventeen counts in the amended complaint. (4; 13:2-4). In the meantime, defense counsel filed a "Motion to Declare Sec. 948.14 Unconstitutional & Dismiss Counts 1-16." (10).

A week later counsel filed a supplement to his motion. (12). The State subsequently filed a response brief whereupon defense counsel submitted a short reply. (22; 23).

On June 14, 2013, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer issued a written decision and order denying Oatman's motion challenging the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 948.14. (24; see appendix). The trial court ruled Wis. Stat. § 948.14, regulated conduct, not speech, and therefore was not subject to First Amendment scrutiny. (24:3-4). The court alternatively ruled that even if the statute implicated the First Amendment, it was content-neutral and satisfied intermediate scrutiny. (24:4-7). The court further ruled the statute was constitutional even if strict scrutiny applied. (24:7-8). Finally, the court concluded the statute was not overbroad. (24:8). Oatman's petition for leave to appeal from the trial court's non-final order was denied in an order dated July 17, 2013. (26; 28).

To preserve Mr. Oatman's right to challenge the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 948.14 on appeal, the prosecutor and defense counsel agreed to a form of stipulated trial, which the parties labeled a "Confessional Stipulation." (45). Pursuant to this written agreement, signed by both the prosecutor and defense counsel, Oatman agreed to waive a jury trial and his related trial rights, whereupon the matter would be presented to the court based on stipulated evidence that would support a finding of guilt. Pursuant to this agreement, Oatman would be found guilty on the charges of photographing a minor without parental consent alleged in counts 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 9, 12, and 15, as well as on the burglary charge in count 17. (45:1). Consistent with "[t]he purpose of this stipulation" "to permit Oatman to appeal, after conviction and sentence, the constitutionality of Sec. Wis. Stats.," the written agreement further provided that "the

State agrees not to challenge any appeal by Oatman after conviction because Oatman waived the issue by virtue of this stipulation but may oppose an appeal on any other lawful grounds." (45:2).

Consistent with the stipulated agreement, February 17, 2014, Oatman was found guilty, as a repeater, of eight counts of photographing a minor without parental and one count of burglary. (73:26-27).On May 2, 2014, Judge Hammer imposed consecutive prison terms on the eight photographing counts, each term consisting of one and a half years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. On the burglary charge, the court imposed a concurrent term of four years imprisonment consisting of two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (55; 75:20).

This case is before the Court of Appeals, District III, pursuant to a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction and sentences. (55; 59).

ARGUMENT

The Convictions Entered on Eight Counts of Violating Wis. Stat. § 948.14, Which Prohibits a Registered Sex Offender from Photographing a Minor Without Written Parental Consent, Must be Vacated Because the Statute is Unconstitutional on its Face and as Applied to Mr. Oatman in that it Substantially Restricts and Burdens Protected Expression in Violation of the State and Federal Constitutions.

A. Introduction: The statute in question.

Christopher Oatman was found guilty under Wis. Stat. § 948.14, of eight counts of being a registered sex offender who intentionally captures "a representation of any minor without the written consent of the minor's parent, legal custodian or guardian." This prohibition, created by 2005 Wis. Act 432, provides:

948.14 Registered sex offender and photographing minors.

- (1) Definitions. In this section:
- (a) "Captures a representation" has the meaning given in s. 942.09(1)(a).
- (b) "Minor" means an individual who is under 17 years of age.

¹ Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(a), the term "'[c]aptures a representation' means takes a photograph, makes a motion picture, videotape, or other visual representation, or records or stores in any medium data that represents a visual image."

- (c) "Representation" has the meaning giving in s. 942.09(1)(c).
- (d) "Sex offender" means a person who is required to register under s. 301.45.
- (2) Prohibition. (a) A sex offender may not intentionally capture a representation of any minor without the written consent of the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian. The written consent required under this paragraph shall state that the person seeking the consent is required to register as a sex offender with the department of corrections.
- (b) Paragraph (a) does not apply to a sex offender who is capturing a representation of a minor if the sex offender is the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian.
- **(3)** Penalty. Whoever violates sub. (2) is guilty of a Class I felony.

Significantly, the prohibition set forth in Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is not restricted to capturing an image or representation of a child that is obscene, pornographic, or even just involves nudity. Indeed, the statute does not require that the forbidden representation be obscene or pornographic in any manner. Rather, the statute prohibits capturing *any* representation of a minor without the requisite written consent.

Pursuant to the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 948.14, anyone who is required to register as a sex offender, unlike any other citizen, is, absent the requisite written consent, effectively prohibited from creating photographic or video

² Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(c), the term "'[r]epresentation' means a photograph, exposed film, motion picture, videotape, other visual representation, or data that represents a visual image."

images to record or portray a vast array of activities that form the fabric of our culture. The broad scope of potential images restricted by this statute is beyond quantification and description. The range of subjects that would be off limits would include common youth sports activities such as soccer, hockey and little league baseball games as well as most junior high and high school sports, artistic and cultural events such as school concerts, plays, and dance recitals, and the multitude of community events, festivals and parades in which minors participate.

The statute also restricts the expressive freedom to take photographs or videos in a multitude of other community and religious settings where minors are likely to be present. For instance, Oatman and other registered sex offenders would be effectively foreclosed from taking pictures at a farmer's market, the zoo, a National or local park, Disneyland, a Brewers game, a baptism, a confirmation celebration, or even a Christmas pageant.

In addition to effectively foreclosing a broad range of photographic subjects, the statute restricts the right of individuals such as Mr. Oatman to engage in the artistic and intellectual expression embodied in the process of capturing an image. The statute is not limited to forbidding the creation of obscene or pornographic images, or even just restricting images created with the intent to facilitate the commission of some other criminal offense. Rather, the statute forecloses even the artistic, academic, or whimsical desire to create images capturing the uninhibited joy, curiosity, and movements of children, including photgraphing children who are not inhibited or otherwise influenced by an awareness of the presence of a camera.

Oatman moved the trial court pursuant to the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 3 and 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution to declare Wis. Stat. § 948.14 unconstitutional either on its face or as applied to the facts of this case. (10). In his motion, Oatman pointed out that none of the images charged in this case involved pornography or nudity. Rather, the images, which are described in the criminal complaint, primarily involve children playing in the neighborhood where Oatman lived. The subjects were photographed in a public not a private setting. Oatman did not invade any home or private space to secure these pictures. While the visual recordings often appear to focus on clothed areas covering children's buttocks, crotch, and panty line area, there is no indication Oatman staged any of the photographs or communicated with any of the children.

Oatman submits the prohibition set forth in Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is unconstitutional on its face and as applied because it substantially restricts and burdens his right to engage in expression protected by the state and federal constitutions. The statute is overbroad in that authorizes criminal punishment for a wide range of otherwise protected expression. The statute substantially restricts the right of individuals who are required to register as sex offenders to engage in commonplace expressive activities available to other citizens. As applied in this case, the statute is unconstitutional because it punishes the otherwise protected form of expression exercised by Mr. Oatman.

In the argument sections below Mr. Oatman will outline why Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is unconstitutional both on it face and as applied. First, contrary to the conclusion of the court below, the process of creating photographic and video images constitutes expressive activity protected by the

First Amendment. Second, Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is not content neutral, but rather, forbids a specific subject category of creating representations of children. expression, Consequently, Wis. Stat. § 948.14, must, but cannot, satisfy strict scrutiny. Third, inasmuch as the prohibition set forth in Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is not limited to obscene or pornographic representations, the statute is overbroad in that it restricts and substantially burdens a wide range of expression protected by the First Amendment. Fourth, even if Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is considered content neutral, it cannot withstand intermediate scrutiny because the statute is not narrowly tailored, but rather, substantially burdens or chills a significant range of protected expression.

B. Applicable constitutional provisions and governing standards.

First Amendment of the United States Constitution, applicable to the states under the Due Process Clause to the Fourteenth Amendment, provides in pertinent part that 'Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech." State v. Robert T., 2008 WI App 22, ¶6, 307 Wis. 2d 488, 493, 746 N.W.2d 564. See also, State v. Baron, 2009 WI 58, ¶12, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 67, 769 N.W.2d 34. Meanwhile, "Article I, § 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides in pertinent part that '[e]very person may freely speak, write and publish his [or her] sentiments on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right, and no laws shall be passed to restrain or abridge the liberty of speech or of the press." Robert T., 307 Wis. 2d at 493, ¶6. Notwithstanding differences in language between these two constitutional provisions, the Wisconsin Constitution has been construed to provide the same freedoms as the federal constitution. *Id.*

"As a general principle, the First Amendment bars the government from dictating what we see or read or speak or hear." *Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition*, 535 U.S. 234, 245 (2002). However, "[t]he freedom of speech has its limits; it does not embrace certain categories of speech, including defamation, incitement, obscenity, and pornography produced with real children." *Id.*, at 245-246. Yet, "[t]he Constitution gives significant protection from overbroad laws that chill speech within the First Amendment's vast and privileged sphere." *Id.*, at 244. "The overbreadth doctrine prohibits the Government from banning unprotected speech if a substantial amount of protected speech is prohibited or chilled in the process." *Id.*, at 255. *See also, Robert T.*, 307 Wis. 2d at 493, ¶7.

"The First Amendment does not permit the imposition of criminal sanctions when doing so would substantially chill protected speech." *State v. Weidner*, 2000 WI 52, ¶35, 235 Wis. 2d 306, 321-322, 611 N.W.2d 684. At issue in this appeal is whether Wis. Stat. § 948.14, is unconstitutional because it impermissibly restricts or substantially burdens protected expression in violation of the state and federal constitutions.

The constitutionality of a statute presents a question of law subject to independent review. *State v. Baron*, 2009 WI 58, ¶10, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 66, 769 N.W.2d 34; *State v. Trochinski*, 2002 WI 56, ¶33, 253 Wis. 2d 38, 64, 644 N.W.2d 891; *State v. Weidner*, 235 Wis. 2d at 312, ¶7. Statutes generally enjoy a presumption of constitutionality. "However, when a statute infringes on rights afforded by the First Amendment . . . the State shoulders the burden of proving the statute constitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." *Weidner*, at ¶7; *Trochinski*, at ¶33; *Baron*, at ¶10.

Because of "the critical ofimportance First Amendment rights in our society," reviewing courts employ an overbreadth analysis to foreclose the undesirable harm to society that results from the chilling effect of a statute that restricts protected expression. Accordingly, a defendant may challenge a statute as being overbroad even though his own conduct may not be constitutionally protected. State v. Janssen, 219 Wis. 2d 362, 371-373, 388, ¶¶19-21, 52, 580 N.W.2d 260 (1998)(Concluding the flag desecration statute was "overbroad and therefore unconstitutional on its face."). State v. Stevenson, 2000 WI 71, ¶¶11-13, 236 Wis. 2d 86, 92-94, 613 N.W.2d 90 (Concluding the statute prohibiting making a videotape depicting a person in a state of nudity without the person's consent was facially overbroad in that it potentially restricted visual expressions of nudity involving works of art, educational materials, political satire and newsworthy images). Application of the overbreadth doctrine is "strong medicine" not to be employed lightly. Janssen, at 373, ¶22; Stevenson, at 94, ¶14; Robert T., 307 Wis. 2d at 493-494, ¶8.

In assessing whether the State has met its burden of proving a statute regulating speech is constitutional beyond a reasonable doubt, it is necessary to address whether the statute is "content neutral." If a statute is content-based, the statute must withstand strict scrutiny. *State v. Baron*, 318 Wis. 2d at 68, 77, ¶¶14, 31. If the statute is content-neutral, the statute is subject to intermediate scrutiny. *Id.*

"To survive strict scrutiny, the State has the burden to show that the 'regulation is necessary to serve a compelling state interest and that it is narrowly drawn to achieve that end." *Baron*, 318 Wis. 2d at 82-83, ¶45, *quoting Boos v. Barry*, 485 U.S. 312, 321 (1988). As the Supreme Court recently declared, to satisfy strict scrutiny the provision "must

be the least restrictive means of achieving a compelling state interest." *McCullen v. Coakley*, 134 S.Ct. 2518, 2530 (2014). Not surprisingly, "it is the rare case in which" the Court has "held that a law survives strict scrutiny." *Burson v. Freeman*, 504 U.S. 191, 211 (1992); *Baron*, 318 Wis. 2d at 84, ¶48 (Though concluding the identity theft statute was narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling interest, the Court observed: "this is one of those 'rare cases' that a government regulation survives strict scrutiny.").

To satisfy intermediate scrutiny, a content-neutral provision must be "narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest" and "leave open ample alternative channels for communication of the information." *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989); *Doe v. Marion County Prosecutor*, 705 F.3d 694, 698 (7th Cir. 2013). To be narrowly tailored, the provision "must not 'burden substantially more speech than is necessary to further the government's legitimate interests." *McCullen v. Coakley*, 134 S.Ct. at 2535, *quoting Ward*, 491 U.S. at 799.

C. Issues not presented in this appeal.

Before addressing Oatman's constitutional challenge it is important to note what is *not* at issue in this appeal. First, Oatman's constitutional challenge to Wis. Stat. § 948.14, does not implicate the State's authority to prohibit images that are obscene or constitute child pornography. Significantly, as a prerequisite to imposing liability, Wis. Stat. § 948.14, does not require that the alleged images be obscene or constitute pornography.

In *Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition*, *supra*, the Supreme Court concluded the Child Pornography Prevention Act (CPPA) was unconstitutionally overbroad insofar as it prohibited the possession or distribution of images that were

neither obscene under the definition of *Miller v. California*, 413 U.S. 15 (1973), nor constituted child pornography as defined in New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747 (1982). The Court further determined that the CPPA was unconstitutional insofar as it proscribed sexually explicit images created by using adults who looked like minors or by using computer imaging to depict minors rather than using actual children. Ashcroft explained that the decision in Ferber upholding the prohibition of child pornography--sexually explicit images of children independent of whether the images were otherwise obscene—was premised on the fact that the sexually explicit images involved actual children who were "themselves the product of child sexual abuse." Ashcroft, 535 U.S. at 249, citing New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. at 761, n. 12.3 Unlike virtual images, the prohibited images in Ferber were "intrinsically related" to the sexual abuse of children. Ashcroft, 535 U.S. at 249, 250. Indeed, the regulated speech in *Ferber* [the sexually explicit image of an actual child] was itself "the record of sexual abuse." Ashcroft, at 250. As the Court explained:

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