RECEIVED

04-22-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP2084-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER J. OATMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE BROWN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARC A. HAMMER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-2340 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) kasseljj@doj.state.wi.us

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

Oatman's challenge to the statute rests on the premise that he has a "First Amendment right non-obscene. non-pornographic photographs or videos recording public images of children" because "creating photographic and video images constitutes expressive conduct subject to First Amendment protection." Oatman's brief at 16. That premise is incorrect because "the taking of photographs or videography, without more, is not protected by the First Amendment." Larsen v. Fort Wayne Police Dep't, 825 F. Supp. 2d 965, 979 (N.D. Ind. 2010); accord, McKay v. Federspiel, 2014 WL 7013574, *8 (E.D. Mich. 2014); Porat v. Lincoln Towers Community Ass'n, 2005 WL 646093 (S.D.N.Y. 2005), aff'd, 464 F.3d

 $^{^2}$ As Oatman correctly notes, *see* Oatman's brief at 9, the Wisconsin Constitution provides the same free speech protections as the First Amendment. *See State v. Robert T.*, 2008 WI App 22, ¶ 6, 307 Wis. 2d 488, 746 N.W.2d 564. The State's arguments below apply equally to both the state and federal constitutions.

274 (2d Cir. 2006); *Montefusco v. Nassau County*, 39 F.Supp.2d 231, 242 n.7 (E.D.N.Y. 1999).

federal court's decision in Poratpersuasive explanation for that provides conclusion. In *Porat*, the plaintiff was a "photo hobbyist" who was taking pictures of a residential complex from the street. Porat, 2005 WL 646093, *1. A security guard approached Porat, asked if he was a resident of the complex, and told him that management policy did not permit nonresidents to take pictures of the building. Id. (The reason for the prohibition. Porat was later told, was "security concerns after 9/11." Id.). Porat then entered the public courtyard of the complex and took more pictures. Id. A second guard asked Porat why he was taking the pictures, and Porat responded that he was doing so for "aesthetic and recreational reasons." Id. The security guards detained Porat and, after police arrived, Porat was ticketed for trespassing. Id. The ticket was later dismissed. Id., *2.

Porat filed a civil action alleging a variety of claims against a number of defendants, including the police officers who ticketed him. Id., *1. He alleged that the officers violated his First Amendment rights by issuing him a trespass ticket in retaliation for engaging in conduct protected under the First Amendment. Id. The court held that Porat's claim failed because, among other reasons, he failed to show that he had an interest protected by the First Amendment. Id., *4.

The court noted that "although communicative photography is well-protected by the First Amendment," Porat's complaint alleged that he was taking the photographs for his own personal use. *Id.*, *4. The question, therefore, was "whether the First Amendment protects purely private recreational, non-communicative photography." *Id.* The court concluded that it did not, explaining:

It is well established that in order to be protected under the First Amendment, images must communicate some idea. See Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 404 (1989); Bery [v. City of New York], 97 F.3d [689,] 694 [(2d Cir. 1996)]. To achieve First Amendment protection, a plaintiff must show that he possessed: (1) a message to be communicated; and (2) an audience to receive that message. regardless of the medium in which the message is to be expressed. Hurley v. Irish-American Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual Group of Boston, 515 U.S. 557, 568 (1995); Montefusco v.. Nassau County, 39 F.Supp.2d 242 (E.D.N.Y.1999). "Without element of expression, there is no risk to the speaker or creator of art that his or her ideas or messages will be unlawfully extinguished . . . in contravention of the First Amendment." Id.(internal quotations omitted).

Plaintiff's Complaint satisfies neither element of this standard. He effectively disclaims any communicative property of his photography as well as any intended audience by describing himself as a "photo hobbyist," (Compl.¶ 16), and alleging that the photographs were only intended for "aesthetic and recreational" purposes. (Compl., ¶ 26) Although Plaintiff cites a number of cases that protect photography under the First Amendment, each ofthese cases distinguishable in that the "speaker" intended to communicate a message to an audience, an intent that is not alleged here.

* * *

These cases all concerned protected First Amendment conduct not because the plaintiffs used cameras, but because the cameras were used as a means of engaging in protected expressive conduct. They do not, as Plaintiff suggests, stand for the proposition that the taking of photographs, without more, is protected by the First Amendment. Therefore, Plaintiff fails to satisfy the first of the Section element 1983 Amendment retaliation standard, an interest protected by the First Amendment.

Id., *4-5.

Another federal district court reached the same conclusion in *Larsen*. In *Larsen*, the plaintiff's daughter was performing in a choir performance at public school. *See Larsen*, 825 F.Supp.2d at 968-69. Larsen wished to videotape her performance, but was told by a member of the organizing group and by a police officer that no videotaping was allowed. *Id.* at 969-70. After Larsen became argumentative, officers removed him from the building and arrested him for disorderly conduct and resisting law enforcement. *Id.* at 972-73. Those charges were later dismissed. *Id.* at 973.

Larsen then filed a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action against the officers and a school official alleging a number of claims, including a claim that the defendants violated his rights under the First Amendment by prohibiting him from videotaping the choir performance. *Id.* at 967-68, 979. The court dismissed that claim, holding that Larsen had no right under the First Amendment to videotape the performance. The court explained:

"It is well established that in order to be protected under the First Amendment, images must communicate some idea." *Porat*

v. Lincoln Towers Cmty. Ass'n, No. 04 Civ. 3199(LAP), 2005 WL 646093, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 21, 2005). More specifically, to achieve protection under the First Amendment, a plaintiff must show that he possessed (1) a message to be communicated, and (2) an audience to receive this message, regardless of the medium in which the message is to be expressed. Hurley v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian, & Bisexual Group of Boston, 515 U.S. 557, 568, 115 S.Ct. 2338, 132 L.Ed.2d 487 (1995); Porat, 2005 WL 646093, at *4. Therefore, the taking of photographs or videography, without more, is not protected by the First Amendment. Porat, 2005 WL 646093, at *5; Gilles v. Davis, 427 F.3d 197, 212 n. 14 (3rd Cir. 2005) (stating that videotaping does not constitute a protected First Amendment activity unless it "gather[s] information about what public officials do on public property" or "has communicative or expressive purpose"). The First Amendment is not implicated because a person uses a camera, but rather, when that camera is used "as a means of engaging in protected expressive conduct," Porat, 2005 WL 646093, at *5, or, less commonly, to "gather information about what public officials do on public property", Smith v. City of Cumming, 212 F.3d 1332, 1333 (11th Cir.2000).

Here, Larsen does not argue that he was attempting to express or communicate an idea through his proposed videography of the show choir invitational or that he was gathering information about what public officials do on public property. Rather, he stated that he wanted to videotape the performance simply for his personal archival purposes, that is, "for family documentation of [his daughter's] childhood". (Resp. Br. 11.) The First Amendment, however, does not protect purely private recreational, noncommunicative photography. Porat, 2005 WL 646093, at *5; see Dreibelbis v. Scholton, No. 4:CV 05-2312, 2006 WL 1626623, at *3-4 (M.D. Pa. June 7, 2006); Montefusco v. Nassau County, 39 F.Supp.2d 231, 242 n. 7 (E.D.N.Y.1999). Therefore, Larsen's proposed videography does not qualify for First Amendment protection. Cf. Davis v. Stratton, 575 F.Supp.2d 410, 421 (N.D.N.Y.2008) (finding plaintiff's act of videotaping his preaching of the Gospel on a college campus protected by the First Amendment because it communicated a message and he later posted the recordings on the web), reversed on other grounds by, 360 Fed. Appx. 182 (2nd Cir. 2010).

Id. at 979-80.

As these cases demonstrate, Oatman's assertion that the First Amendment protects the act of taking a photograph or making a video recording is overly broad. The First Amendment protects photography or videography done with a communicative or expressive purpose, see Gilles v. Davis, 427 F.3d 197, 212 n.14 (3d Cir. 2005), but not the capturing of images done purely for personal purposes.

Oatman argues that in *State v. Stevenson*, 2000 WI 71, 236 Wis. 2d 86, 613 N.W.2d 90, the court "implicitly recognized that creating of video or photographic image constitutes expressive conduct protected by the First Amendment." Oatman's brief at 21. This is so, he contends, because the court held in *Stevenson* that the statute that prohibited taking a photograph or video of a person in a state of nudity without the person's consent was facially overboard. *Id.* He argues that "to even consider whether the statute in question was overbroad, the *Stevenson* court had to first conclude that creating video images constituted protected expression." *Id.*

The State reads *Stevenson* differently. The *Stevenson* court held that the defendant's conduct – surreptitiously videotaping his former girlfriend in the nude – "is given no protection under the First Amendment." *Stevenson*, 236 Wis. 2d 86, ¶16. The court concluded that the statute was overbroad because it "not only properly prohibits Stevenson's surreptitious videotaping of his former girlfriend in the nude, but also improperly prohibits all visual expression of nudity without explicit consent, including political satire and newsworthy images." *Id.*, ¶21.

The Stevenson court held that the statute "does not limit its reach to original depictions of rather overreaches nudity but reproductions." Id., ¶22. The court found the statute "indiscriminately casts a wide net over expressive conduct protected by the Amendment" because "[i]t chills the ability to include copies of masterpieces like Michaelangelo's 'David' in a book devoted to famous [sic] sculptures and also prevents the dissemination of materials that may portray nudity for health or educational purposes." *Id*.

Stevenson's holding rests, therefore, not on a holding that the initial act of taking a photograph or making a video recording is protected by the First Amendment but on the court's finding that the statute "overreaches to reproductions" such as art books and health and educational publications. Those activities have a communicative or expressive purpose. It is that communicative or expressive conduct that is constitutionally protected.

If the taking of photographs and video recordings for purely personal use were protected

by the First Amendment, the State would concede that Wis. Stat. § 948.14 is overly broad. The statute is content based, as it applies only to capturing images of children. The statute would be subject to strict scrutiny, requiring the State to demonstrate that the statute is necessary to serve a compelling state interest and that it is narrowly drawn to achieve that end. *State v. Baron*, 2009 WI 58, ¶¶15, 45, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 769 N.W.2d 34. The State does not believe it could satisfy that burden. While the State has a compelling interest in protecting children, the statute is not narrowly drawn because it applies to all registered sex offenders, including those with no history of abusing children.

But for the reasons discussed above, the First Amendment does not protect the capturing of images for purely personal purposes. With that limitation in mind, the State will address Oatman's claims that Wis. Stat. § 948.14 is unconstitutional as applied to his conduct and on its face.

II. SECTION 948.14 IS CONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO OATMAN.

There is nothing in the record that suggests that Oatman was photographing the neighborhood children, focusing on their crotch and buttocks areas, for anything other than his personal gratification. As Oatman acknowledged in his motion to dismiss, the images at issue "were recovered from a cell phone, digital camera, memory card and camcorder found in Oatman's possession" (10:2) following a search of his residence by his probation and parole agent and

an examination of the devices by a detective (3:8-9). Oatman did not assert in his motion to dismiss that he took the pictures of the children for any reason other than his personal use (10:1-8). Because the First Amendment "does not protect purely private recreational, non-communicative photography," *Larsen*, 825 F. Supp. 2d at 980, the statute prohibiting Oatman from photographing the children without their parents' consent is not unconstitutional as applied to Oatman's conduct.

III. SECTION 948.14 IS CONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE.

A. Applicable legal standards.

A statute may be challenged on its face as overbroad even by a party whose conduct is clearly unprotected if the statute infringes substantial amount of speech or expressive conduct protected by the First Amendment. Hemmingway, 345 Wis. 2d 297, ¶11 (citing New York v. Ferber. 458 U.S. 747, 769 (1982)). "However, finding a statute invalid because of overbreadth should not be done lightly." State v. Robert T., 2008 WI App 22, ¶7, 307 Wis. 2d 488, 746 N.W.2d 564. "Because of the wide-reaching effects of striking down a statute on its face at the request of one whose own conduct may be punished despite the First Amendment, the recognized Supreme Court has overbreadth doctrine is 'strong medicine' and has employed it with hesitation, and then 'only as a last resort." Id. (quoting Ferber, 458 U.S. at 769) (brackets omitted).

"[T]he Supreme Court 'insist[s] that the overbreadth involved be "substantial" before the

statute involved will be invalidated on its face." *Id.* The overbreadth must be substantial "not only in an absolute sense, but as judged in relation to the statute's legitimate sweep." *Hemmingway*, 345 Wis. 2d 297, ¶11 (citing *United States v. Williams*, 553 U.S. 285, 292 (2008)). "Marginal infringement or fanciful hypotheticals of inhibition that are unlikely to occur will not render a statute constitutionally invalid on overbreadth grounds." *Stevenson*, 236 Wis. 2d 86, ¶14.

"The overbreadth claimant bears the burden of demonstrating, 'from the text of the law and from actual fact,' that substantial overbreadth exists." *Virginia v. Hicks*, 539 U.S. 113, 122 (2003) (brackets and quoted source omitted); *see also Hemmingway*, 345 Wis. 2d 297, ¶11 ("The party challenging a statute as overbroad has the burden to show substantial overbreadth.").

B. Oatman has not shown that the statute is facially overbroad.

Oatman's facial overbreadth argument relies on his assertion that the mere act of taking a non-obscene or non-pornographic image of a child is protected by the First Amendment. As discussed above, if the court were to agree with that contention, the State would concede that the statute is overly broad. See supra, pp. 11-12. But if, as the State contends, the First Amendment does not protect capturing images for personal use, the statute is not overbroad because Oatman has not shown that the statute prohibits a substantial amount of constitutionally protected communicative conduct.

In *Stevenson*, the court held that the statute prohibiting taking pictures of nude individuals without the person's consent was overly broad because the statute "indiscriminately casts a wide net over expressive conduct protected by the First Amendment," observing that the statute chilled the ability to include copies of Michelangelo's 'David' in a book about sculptures and prevented the dissemination of materials that portrayed images of nudity for health or educational purposes. *See Stevenson*, 236 Wis. 2d 86, ¶22. But unlike the statute at issue in *Stevenson*, which applied to everyone, *see id.*, ¶16, Wis. Stat. § 948.14 applies only to registered sex offenders.

Perhaps there are some registered sex offenders who wish to photograph children for use artistic. educational, or health related publications or for other communicative expressive conduct protected by the Amendment. Such an individual, if charged with violating Wis. Stat. § 948.14, would be free to raise an as-applied challenge to the statute. But Oatman has not argued, much less shown, that a substantial amount of the conduct prohibited by the statute involves anything other than images taken for personal use. He has failed, therefore, to carry his burden of demonstrating that the statute is substantially overbroad.

CONCLUSION

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